Garcia v. Nuno et

o (0e] ~ (o2} (93] ESN w N =

N NN NN N N NN P P P B P P PP PR
© N o O~ W N P O © N O 0o M W N P O

al

ISRAEL GARCIA,

V.

Plaintiff,

ANTONIO NUNO, ET AL.

Defendants.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ORDER:

RECOMMENDATION;
OBJECTION; AND

DENYING IN PART
DISMISS
(ECF Nos. 35, 37, 31)

—1-

Case No. 14-cv-00243-BAS(BGS)

(1) APPROVING AND ADOPTING
IN PART REPORT AND

(2) SUSTAINING DEFENDANTS’

(3) GRANTING IN PART AND
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO

On January 31, 2014, plaintiff Isra@arcia (“Plaintiff’), a state prison
proceedingro se andin forma pauperis, commenced this divrights action pursuat
to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against several officerd medical personnel @alipatria Stat
Prison. On August 6, 2014, Plaintifléd a First Amended Complaint (“FAC
alleging the following: (1) Eighth Amendmetteliberate indifference and Fourteeg
Amendment due process violations aga@#icer Elmore; (2) Eighth Amendme
excessive force, Fourteenth Amendmedue process, and First Amendm

retaliation violations against Officer Nun) Fourteenth Amendment due proc
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Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference, and First Amendment retaliation
violations against registered nurses Manuel and Silva; (4) Fourteenth Amendmen
due process violation against Lt. IBan; (5) Eighth Amendment deliberate
indifference and First Amendment retaloativiolations against Dr. Kornbluth; (6)
Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference violations against Dr. Ball; (7) Bighth
Amendment deliberate indifference viotats against Warden Montgomery; and| (8)
Fourteenth Amendment retaliation violatiayenerally against correctional staff and
medical staff. (ECF No. 16.Plaintiff seeks damagesd@requests injunctive relief
concerning medical unit operationsd.(at 17-18.) On Janna23, 2015, Defendants
filed a Motion to Dismiss the FAC pursuato Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6). (ECF No. 31.) Plaintiff did not oppose.

On August 17, 2015, United States Magitt Judge Bernard G. Skomal issued
a Report and Recommendation (“R&R”), remmending that this Court issue |an
Order granting Defendants’ Motion to $bniss on all claims except the Eighth
Amendment excessive forciaim against Offter Nuno and the Eighth Amendment
deliberate indifference &im against Dr. Kornbluth. (EQRo. 35.) Magistrate Judge
Skomal ordered the parties to file anyeattjons no later thaBeptember 4, 2015.
(Id. at p. 25.) Thereafter, Defendantsdikn objection to the recommendation infthe
R&R that the Court deny the Motion to Dissiwith respect to Officer Nuno. (ECF
No. 93.) Plaintiff did not file any objections.

For the reasons set forth below, the CAPPROVES and ADOPTS IN
PART the R&R (ECF No. 35)SUSTAINS Defendants’ objection (ECF No. 3}),
andGRANTS IN PART andDENIES IN PART Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss
(ECF No. 31).

l. BACKGROUND

The Court hereby incorporates the fdatd out in Magistrate Judge Skomal's
R&R. However, the Court elaborates bvelon the facts relating to Plaintiff's Eighth

Amendment excessive forceach against Officer Nuno.
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A. Plaintiff's Version
In the FAC, Plaintiff alleges OfficdMuno, a correctional officer at Calipat

State Prison where Plaintiff was an inmatstéd maliciously with intent to harm

ria

or

cause harm[,] as well as recklessnessuarting to deliberate indifferences [Sic]

under the Eighth Amendment['s] prohibiticon cruel and unusual punishme
(FAC at 2.) Plaintiff alleges that on Felary 23, 2013, Officer Nuno used exces

Nt.

Sive

force in physically attacking him “withogirovocation or without any legal basig or

authority.” (d. at 7.)
Specifically, Plaintiff alleges the followg occurred on February 23, 2013:

Plaintiff's door was unlockednd opened by Officer Nunoghmorning, he grabbed

some hygiene items he had ready in cleastat and put them in his back pocl
(Id. at 9.) Plaintiff then walkedver to get his medication.ld() After he got hi
medication, Plaintiff attempted to slidiee hygiene items under the door of a |
inmate. [d.) Officer Nuno told him to stoprna bring the hygiene items over

where he was standing.d() Plaintiff handed the hygiene items over to Officer N

upon request. Id.) However, Plaintiff refused tgo back to his cell until Office

Nuno returned the hygiene items to himid.X Plaintiff and Officer Nuno argué
over the return of the hygiene items, whi©fficer Nuno termedcontraband.” Kd.)
Plaintiff then said to Officer Nuno: “Areou dum[b] or stupid not to know that is 1
contraband.” Id.) At that time, Plantiff realized that Offter Nuno was “very mag
so he “steped [sic] back ay from him and took off [hisglasses and put them
[his] shirt pocket (front).” Id.) By the time Plaintiff looked back up, Officer Nun
elbow hit him the face, making him fall toetliloor on top of his cane, with both
his hands on his caneld(at 10.) Officer Nuno then jumped on top of Plaintiff
told him to stop resisting. Id.) Once other correctiohafficers arrived, Office
Nuno stopped attacking Plaifitand he was able to freas hands and be cuffe
(Id.) Plaintiff was injured as a result of the attacld. &t 10, 11, 14.)

Following the attack, Plaintiff allege3fficer Nuno “falsely prepared repo

-3 - 14cv243

AsS

Ket.

JJ

new
to

uno

L

]
nd

not
1”

n

D’'S
of
and
"
d.

1S




incorrectly identifying himself as the victim in an effort to avoid criminal or
administrative penalties for batter[y],” whiaesulted in Plaintiff being punished
“without justification.” (d. at 10.) Plaintiff alleges that Officer Nuno falsely
reported that he hit him the chest, and dsgbat he did not lunge at Officer Nuno
with his cane, as reported by G. Badilléd. @t 7, 10see also ECF No. 16-1 at 13))
Plaintiff seeks, among other things,ngoensatory and punitive damages and a
declaration that the acts and omissions alesd in his FAC violated his rights under
the U.S. Constitution and laves the United States.Id, at 17.)
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B. Officer Nuno’s Version

The “Crime/Incident Report” filed b@fficer Nuno on February 23, 2013, and

attached to the FAC, states:

ON SATURDAY FEBRUARY 23,2013 AT APPROXIMATELY
0745, WHILE PERFORMING MY DUIES AS HCA INFIMARY #1,
| OPENED INFIRMARY CELL #9 OCCUPIED BY INMATE
GARCIA (T67693, inf-9I) TO SEHHE REGISTERED NURSE ON
DUTY FOR VITALS. AFTER HS VITALS WERE COMPLETED
INMATE GARCIA T67693 THEN STARTED WALKING
TOWARDS CELL #15. INMATE GARCIA ATTEMPTED TO
THROW AN UNKNOWN OBJECT UNDER DOOR PANEL BUT IT
GOT STUCK UNDER THE DOORI THEN ORDERED INMATE
GARCIA TO BACK AWAY FROM THE DOOR AND
CONFISCATED THE CONTRABAND. | THEN TOLD INMATE
GARCIA THAT HE CANNOT THROW CONTRABAND UNDER
CELL DOORS AND THAT HE NEEIED TO GO BACK TO HIS
CELL. INMATE GARCIA BECAME VERY ANGRY AND
DEMANDED HIS CONTRABAND BACK AND STATED “YOU
AINT GONNA PUNK ME FOR MY SHIT". | THEN ORDERED
HIM AGAIN TO RETURN BACK TO HIS CELL AND INMATE
GARCIA THEN TOOK A BLADED STANCE AND REMOVED HIS
GLASSES AND TOLD ME “LETSDO THIS, LET'S GO ALL THE
WAY”. INMATE GARCIA STRUCK ME WITH HIS RIGHT FIST
ON MY CHEST WHILE HOLDINGHIS CANE. | THEN PLACED
BOTH MY HANDS ON HIS SHOUWDERS, GRABING [SIC] HIS
SHIRT AND TOOK HIM DOWN UTILIZING MY B ODY WEIGHT.
| THEN ORDERED INMATE GARCIA TO STOP RESISTING
WHILE | ATTEMPTED TO PLACE HIM IN HANDCUFFS, HE
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CONTINUED TO RESIST BY KEEPING BOTH HANDS TUCKED
UNDER HIS BODY AND ROLLNG AROUND, | MANAGED TO

PULL INMATE GARCIA’'S HANDS OUT FROM UNDER HIS
BODY AND PLACE HIM IN RESTRAINTS WHILE ON TOP OF
HIM. | THEN RELINQUISHED CWBTODY TO OFFICER R. CRUZ.

(ECF No.16-1 at 12%)

C.  Outcomeof Incident

An “Administrative Segregation UnRlacement Notice” filed February 2
2013 by W. Newman, and attachiedthe FAC, states th&tlaintiff “struck Officer
Nuno on his chest with [his] fist” while be escorted, which necessitated phys
force to quell the incident. Id. at 14.) The Notice funer states that based
Plaintiff's reported involvement in the tbary of a police officer, Plaintiff we
“deemed a threat to the safety and ségwf the institution and [was] being plag
in Administrative Segregation pendingeview of [his] program needs.1d)) “As
a result of this placement,” the Notice statest Plaintiff's “credit earning, custog
level, privilege group, and visitingagts are subject to changelt.}

W. Newman also filed a “Crime/Incat Report” on Februg 23, 2013, whic

Is attached to the FAC and is a “compiatiof the involved staff's written reports

(Id. at 3.) In the Report, W. Newman states:

On Saturday, February 23, 2018t approximately 0749 hours,
Correctional Officer A. Nuno (HCAn-Pat Officer #1) was escorting
Inmate M. Garcia (T67693, INF-09Lwhen Inmate Garcia struck
Officer Nuno with his hand on the est. Officer Nuno used physical
force to stop the attackd restrain Inmate Garcia.

(ECF No. 16-1 at 3-4.) Under the “UseRairce” section, the Crime/Incident Rep

states:

1 Plaintiff attached nearly a hundreages of documents his FAC an(
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)

when documents are attachida complaint, the Courhay consider the attachied

documents on a motion to dismigRoth v. Garcia Marquez, 942 F.2d 617, 625 n.

(9th Cir. 1991);Hal Roach Sudios v. Richard Feiner & Co., 896 F.2d 1542, 155
n.19 (9th Cir. 1990).
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Officer Nuno utilized physical strefgto stop the attack by placing
both his hands on Inmate Garcialsoulders and then using his body
weight he pushed Inmat&arcia to the floor wergsic] he landed on top
of him and was able to place him in hand cuffs.

(Id.) As a result of the incident, the Crinm@ident Report states that Plaintiff was

to receive a “CDC-115, Rules Violation gt (RVR) for a violation of Californi

Code of Regulation&CCR), Title 15, Section 3005(bharging him with the specific

act of ‘Battery on a Peace Officer.”Id( at 4.)

A Rules Violation Report was issuedPRtaintiff on or about March 3, 2013,

which repeated the statemedificer Nuno gave in his Crime/Incident Reportd.

a

(

at 15.) Plaintiff appeared at a hearingddjudication on this Rules Violation Report

on May 18, 2013. I¢l.) At the hearing, Plaintifpleaded “Not Guilty” and statg

14

2

“I'm innocent, | didn’t do anything.” 1¢l.) Officer Nuno was not required to appear

at the hearing because he had “no relevant or additional information,” but his

report was proffered as temony and/or evidenceld.) Atthe hearing, Plaintiff was

found guilty of violating California Code of Regulations Tillg, 8 3005(d)(1) fq

written

=

battery on a peace officerld() This finding was baskeon a preponderance of the

evidence submitted at the hearing, whittluded Officer Nuno’s written report,
guoted in full above. 1¢.) This evidence was supported by the statement g
Manuel, a medical evaluation, and tieport of an inmate/witnessld( at 16) As «
result of the guilty finding, Plaintiff waassessed “150 days Forfeiture Credits”
“10 days Loss of Yard.” I¢l.) Plaintiff appealed. See ECF No. 16-2 at 5-10.)
II.  LEGAL STANDARD

The Court reviewsle novo those portions of the R& to which objections a
made. 28 U.S.C. 8§ 636(b)(1Jhe Court may “aapt, reject, or modify, in whole
in part, the findings or recommendatiomade by the magistrate judgeld. But
“[t]he statute [28 U.S.C. 836(b)(1)(c)] makes it clear that the district judge n

as
f RN
2

and

e

Dr

nust

review the magistrate judge’s findingead recommendations de novo if objection is

made, but not otherwise.United States v. Reyna-Tapia, 328 F.3d 1114, 1121 (9
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Cir. 2003) (en banc) (emphasis in originahe also Schmidt v. Johnstone, 263 F
Supp. 2d 1219, 1226 (D. Ari2003) (concluding that whemo objections were filed,
the district court had no obligation to revidve magistrate judge’s report). “Neither
the Constitution nor the statute requiressrdtit judge to review, de novo, findings
and recommendations that the partiesmselves accept as correcRéyna-Tapia,
328 F.3d at 1121. This rule of law is weBtablished in the Ninth Circuit and this
district. See Wang v. Masaitis, 416 F.3d 992, 1000 n.13 (9th Cir. 2005) (“Of coyrse,
de novo review of a R & R @nly required when an objeoti is made to the R&R.");
Nelson v. Giurbino, 395 F. Supp. 2d 946, 949 (S.D. C#05) (Lorenz, J.) (adopting
report in its entirety without review becaussther party filed objections to the report
despite the opportunity to do saie also Nicholsv. Logan, 355 F. Supp. 2d 1155,
1157 (S.D. Cal. 2004) (Benitez, J.).
Objections must be written and specifiee, e.g., Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(b)(R)
(“[A] party may serve and file specifwritten objections to the proposed findings
and recommendations” of the magistrate judg&Numerous courts have held that a
general objection to the erdty of a Magistrate Judgdieport and recommendatign]
has the same effect asfailure to object.” Alcantara v. McEwen, No. 12-cv-401
IEG(DHB), 2013 WL 4517861, at *1 (S.D. Célugust. 15, 2013) (citing cases).| In

the absence of specific objectidhe clear weight of authity indicates that the coyrt

need only satisfy itself that there is no “clearor” on the face athe record before
adopting the magistrajedge’s recommendatiortee, e.g., id.; Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(b)
Advisory Comm. Notes (1983) (citin@ampbell v. U.S. Dist. Court for N. Dist. Of
Cal., 501 F.3d 5, 7 (9th Cir. 1974)).
lll.  DISCUSSION

Defendants object to the R&R’s canmendation that the Court deny
Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff's@essive force claim against Officer Nupo.
Specifically, Defendants object to the R&Riisding that Plaintiff's excessive force
claim against Officer Nuno is not barredgck v. Humphrey, 512 U.S. 477 (1994).
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In Heck, the United States Supreme Court held that a state prisoner’s claim for
damages is not cognizable under 42 U.S.@983 if “a judgment in favor of the
plaintiff would necessarily imply the invalidity of his conviction or sentence,” upless

the prisoner can demonstrate that tbhewiction or sentence has previously been

invalidated. Id. at 487. This doctrine, aldmown as the favorable termination
doctrine, was extended to disciplinarganings that result in the loss of good-time
credits inEdwards v. Balisok, 520 U.S. 641, 648 (1997). The question is therefore
whether Plaintiff's allegations supportingl@xcessive force claim would necessarily
imply the invalidity of the punishment imposed in the disciplinary hearing.
Defendants argue in their objection tHplf Plaintiff is successful on his
Eighth Amendment excessive force claimaiagt Officer Nuno—i.e. if Plaintiff
proves that he did not hit Officerudo, but Officer Nuno hit him—it would

necessarily negate the finding at the RMesdation Report hearing that Plaintiff |is
guilty of battering Officer Nuno. Theref®rthe Eighth Amendment excessive farce
claim is barred by the favorable-terminationwioe.” (ECF No. 37 at p. 3, lines 10-
15.) For the following reasons, th@@t agrees with Defendants aBUSTAINS
the objection.

In the R&R, the magistrate judgetdemined that it may be possible for
Plaintiff to prevail on his excessive @@ claim without necessarily implying the
invalidity of his prison disciplinary convian, if, for example, Plaintiff could prove:
“(1) Officer Nuno responded to Plaifitts resistance with an unjustified and
excessive amount of force; or (2) Officeumd used excessive force before or after,
instead of in response to Plaintiff's retsince.” (R&R at p7.) However, as
Defendants highlight, Plaintiff was notsdiplined for resistance, but was found
guilty of violating California Code of Regulations Title 153@05(d)(1) for battery
f

y
commit or assist another person in the cassion of an assault or battery to any

A

on a peace officer, based on a finding necst Officer Nuno.Section 3005(d)(1) ¢

Title 15 of the California Code of Regulatis provides: “Inmates shall not willfu
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person or persons, nor attempt or threditenuse of force or violence upon anof
person.” Cal. Code Regs. tit5, 8 3005(d)(1) (2008xee also Velarde v. Duarte,
937 F. Supp. 2d 1204, 1211 n. 1 (S.D. Cal. 2013).

Therefore, if Plaintiff were to prove, && alleges in the FAC, that he did
strike Officer Nuno, a judgment in his favor would necessarily imply the invg
of the finding at his disciplinary haag that he was guilty of batterySee Sharp v.
Morrison, No. CV 1:07-00458-PHX-SMM2010 WL 2838635, at *4-5 (E.D. C
July 20, 2010). Accordingly, the Court finds Plaintiff is barredHsck from
bringing his excessive force claim, @teged, against Officer Nuno.

Given the foregoing, the CouSUSTAINS Defendants’ objection ar
DISMISSES Plaintiff's Eighth Amendment exssive force claimagainst Office
Nuno. However, the Court grants Pl#inleave to amend this cause of act
because, as argued by Defendants, thexdaats Plaintiff could add to plausit
allege an excessive force ctathat would not be barred Ibjeck.

IV. CONCLUSION & ORDER

After reviewingde novo those portions of the R&B which objections wel
made, the CourBUSTAINS Defendants’ objection tMagistrate Judge Skoma
recommendation that the Court deny Defenislamotion to dismiss the excess
force claim against fiicer Nuno. The Court has also conductetaovo review of
the remainder of the R&R, éhimotion to dismiss, and reknt portions of the recor
and concludes that Magistratadge Skomal’s reasoning as to the remainder g
R&R is sound. Therefore, the Co8USTAINS Defendants’ Objection (ECF N
37), APPROVES andADOPTS IN PART the R&R (ECF No. 35), anGRANTS
IN PART andDENIES IN PART Defendants’ Motion to Bimiss (ECF No. 31).

Accordingly, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss GRANTED except for thg

Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference plaagainst Dr. Kornbluth. As laid gut

by Magistrate Judge Skomal, the followidl@ims are dismissed with prejudice :

without leave to amend: (1) Eighth Ameneimh deliberate indiffeence claim again
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Officer Elmore; (2) Fourteenth Amendniedue process claims against Offi
Elmore, Officer Nuno, RN Manuel, RNbilva, and Lt. Beltran; and (3) Fi

Amendment retaliation violations again®fficer Nuno, RN Manuel, and Dr.

Kornbluth. The claim for injunctiveelief is also dismissed as moot.
However, as further laid out by Magiste Judge Skomahd modified by thi

Court’s order, Plaintiff is given leave t@amend the following claims: (1) Eigh

cer

st

JJ

th

Amendment excessive foradaim against Officer Nuno; (2) Eighth Amendm

nt

deliberate indifference claims againRN Manuel and RN Silva; (3) Eighth

Amendment deliberate indifference olations against Dr. Ball; (4) Eigh
Amendment deliberate indifference viotats against Warden Montgomery; and
First Amendment retaliation violation against RN Silva.

If Plaintiff chooses to amend his colaipmt, he mustife a “Second Amende

Complaint” no later thaApril 29, 2016. Except as laid out above, no new claim

parties may be added to tBecond Amended Complaint.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

. '| . ) ) f
DATED: March 29,2016 ( yitlna  (Zaokaas

Hon. Cvnthia Bashant
United States District Judge
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